AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE

THORNTON SCHOOL BOARD

AND

THORNTON EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2027

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		PAGE
ARTICLE 1	DEFINITIONS	2
ARTICLE 2	NEGOTIATIONS PROCEDURE	2-3
ARTICLE 3	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	3-6
ARTICLE 4	INSURANCE	6-7
ARTICLE 5	LEAVES	7-10
ARTICLE 6	PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT	10-11
ARTICLE 7	SALARIES	12
ARTICLE 7.3	RETIREMENT	13
ARTICLE 7.4	LONGEVITY	13
ARTICLE 7.5	CHILD ENROLLMENT	14
ARTICLE 8	CONTRACT DAYS	14
ARTICLE 9	EVALUATION	14-21
ARTICLE 10	FAIR TREATMENT	21-22
ARTICLE 11	TEACHING CONDITIONS	22-23
ARTICLE 12	REDUCTION OF FORCE	23-24
ARTICLE 13	ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	24
ARTICLE 14	DURATION	25
	SIGNATURE PAGE	25
	SALARY SCHEDULE	26-27

Thornton Education Association And Thornton School Board Collective Bargaining Agreement

ARTICLE 1 Definitions

1.1 Definitions:

The following list of terms will be used frequently in this agreement and, when used, will refer to the definitions described below unless otherwise stipulated:

- 1.1-1 The term "Teacher" as used in this agreement shall mean a professional employee of the Thornton School District under contract for the school year, whose position requires certification by the State Board of Education.
- **1.1-2** The term "Board" means the Thornton School Board or any of its agents.
- **1.1-3** The term "Association" refers to the Thornton Education Association, affiliated with NEA-NH/NEA.
- **1.1-4** The term "Non-Probationary Teacher" means a teacher who has achieved continuing contract status per state law.
- 1.2 New Positions: If any new position is created during the life of this agreement and the parties cannot mutually agree on its inclusion in the bargaining unit, either party may request a clarification and determination from the New Hampshire Public Employee Labor Relations Boards.

ARTICLE 2 Negotiations Procedure

- 2.1 All negotiations will be carried out in good faith.
- 2.2 At the end of each meeting, a time and date will be set for future negotiations.
- 2.3 The Board agrees to help the Association to obtain such non-confidential information in its possession as is reasonably requested.
- 2.4 It is agreed that matters affecting working conditions which are within the scope of the employer's authority shall not be changed or implemented without prior negotiations.

- 2.5 Any agreement reached shall be reduced to writing and be signed by the Board and the Association. A copy of the Agreement shall be filed with the New Hampshire Public Employees Labor Relations Board within fourteen (14) days of the signing.
- **2.5-1** The Board shall be responsible for publications of the Agreement in booklet form and distribution of Agreement Booklets to the Association without cost within a reasonable amount of time.

ARTICLE 3 Grievance Procedure

3.1 Definitions

- **3.1-1** A "grievance" shall mean a concern by a teacher or group of teachers which has a solution.
- **3.1-2** An "aggrieved person is the person or persons making the complaint.
- 3.1-3 The term "days" when used in this article shall, except where otherwise indicated, mean school days; except the end of the school year when they shall be Monday through Friday, excluding holidays.
- **3.1-4** Failure at any step of this procedure to communicate the decision on a grievance within the specified time limits shall permit the aggrieved person to proceed to the next step.
- 3.2 Initiation and Processing

3.2-1 Level One -

Any grievant shall discuss the grievance with the immediate supervisor in an attempt to resolve the matter informally. If, as a result of the discussion, the matter is not resolved to the satisfaction of the grievant within ten (10) school days, the grievance shall be set forth in writing to the principal specifying:

- 1. the nature of the grievance
- 2. the provisions of the contract, policy or practice violated, and
- 3. the action required

The Principal shall communicate a decision in writing to the grievant(s) and to the Association within ten (10) school days of receipt of the written grievance.

3.2-2 Level Two – Superintendent

The grievant, no later than ten (10) days after receipt of the Principal's decision, may appeal that decision to the Superintendent of Schools. The appeal must be made in writing, including the matter submitted to the Principal, as specified above, and the dissatisfaction with the decisions previously rendered. The Superintendent shall meet with the grievant to attempt to resolve the matter, as quickly as possible, but within a period not to exceed ten (10) days. The Superintendent shall communicate the decision reached in writing to the grievant(s) and the Association within ten (10) days after the meeting.

3.2-3 Level Three - School Board

If the Superintendent's decision does not resolve the grievance to the satisfaction of the grievant, the decision may be appealed to the School Board within ten (10) days of receipt of the answer in Level Two. The grievant shall have the right to appear before the Board to present evidence and argument for the Board's consideration.

3.2-4 Arbitration

- a) If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of his grievance at Level Three, and the Association determines that the grievance should be arbitrated, it may submit the grievance for arbitration by written notice to the Board within fifteen (15) school days of receipt of the decision at Level Three. Arbitration shall be limited solely to grievances involving provisions of this Agreement.
- b) Within fifteen (15) school days after receipt of the appeal by the Board, the Board or its designee and the Association will agree upon a mutually acceptable arbitrator. If the Board and the Association are unable to agree upon an arbitrator, or are unable to receive a commitment to serve within thirty (30) school days, a demand for arbitration shall be submitted by either party. The parties will then be bound by the rules and procedures of the American Arbitration Association.
- c) The arbitrator shall confine his decision to the application and interpretation of this Agreement. He shall be without power to add to, modify, or vacate any of the terms of this Agreement or make any decision contrary to, or inconsistent with, the terms of this Agreement, or which violates any rule or regulation having the force and effect of law.

- d) The costs for services of the arbitrator, if any, shall be shared equally by the Board and the Association.
- e) In any <u>advisory arbitration</u> case, the decision of the arbitrator shall not be binding upon the parties. Within fifteen (15) school days after receipt of the arbitrator's award, the Board will review the matter and issue a determination within five (5) school days of its review. If the Board does not issue its final decision within five (5) school days, it will be deemed to have accepted the arbitrator's award. The decision of the Board will be final and binding. <u>Advisory arbitration shall be used in the following instances:</u>
 - 1) The discipline or non-renewal of the probationary teacher.
 - 2) The application or implementation of the provisions of the agreement.
 - 3) The application of Board policy or practice pertaining to the content of the contract or applicable law.
 - 4) The discipline of a non-probationary teacher.
- f) In a <u>binding arbitration</u> case, the decision of the arbitrator, made in accordance with their authority and jurisdiction under this agreement, shall be binding upon the parties. Binding arbitration shall apply to <u>only</u> the termination or non-renewal of a non-probationary teacher.

3.3 Rights of Teachers to Representation

- 3.3-1 An aggrieved person may be represented at all stages of the grievance procedure by him/herself or by the Association. The grievant, however, will be present at all levels of the grievance procedure.
- 3.3-2 When a teacher is not represented by the Association in the processing of a grievance, the Association shall at the time of submission of the grievance to the Principal, or any higher level, be notified in writing that the grievance is in process. The Association shall also be notified in writing that the grievance is in process. The Association shall also be notified by the Superintendent in advance of any hearing and shall have the right to be present. The Association shall receive a copy of all decisions rendered. All decisions for the resolution of grievances shall be consistent with the terms of this Collective Bargaining Agreement.
- **3.3-3** The Board shall assure that the parties in interest and witnesses are guaranteed freedom from restraint, interference, coercion, discrimination, or reprisal with respect to the processing of a grievance.

3.4 Personnel Files

All documents and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed in a grievance file and shall not be kept in the personnel files of the participants. Said grievance documents and records shall not be forwarded to any prospective employer nor shall such documents be revealed or the grievance(s) be alluded to in any communication between the administration and said prospective employer.

3.5 General Provisions

It is understood by the parties that a grievance may be filed at the level where the action which is the subject of the grievance originated.

ARTICLE 4 Insurance

4.1 For the years 2021 - 2024 there will be the choice of three health insurance plans:

Access Blue New England
 Blue Cross Blue Choice
 AB5 Prescription 10/20/45
 BC3T5RDR-R\$3/15M\$1

- Lumenos HSA2500

The District will pay 92% of the cost of a single, two-person or family coverage for Access Blue New England AB5 10/20/45

The District will pay an amount equal to the cost of 92% of AB5 10/20/45 for Blue Choice BC3T5RDR-R\$3/15M\$1

The District will pay 92% of HSA2500. In addition the District will fund a HSA in the amount of \$3,000 for a family, \$3,000 for two-person or \$1,500 for single person coverage.

The District will pay 92% of the cost of a single, two-person or family coverage for Lumenos HSA2500 for each of the two years of the contract. In addition, for employees who enroll in the Lumenos HSA2500 the District will fund an HSA annually. In the first year of enrollment the District will fund \$5,000 for a family or couple and \$2,500 for an individual – the full deductible amounts for each group; in the second year of enrollment the District will fund an amount of \$4,000 for a family or couple and \$2,000 for single person coverage. In the third and all subsequent years of enrollment the District will fund \$2,500 for a family or couple and \$1,500 for an individual.

Employees who enroll in the Lumenos plan will be responsible for enrolling in an HSA account through a financial institution.

The District will fund 50% of the annual HSA fund contribution on January 1, and the remaining half on July 1. When there are local financial institutions available with no fees and charges the District will not reimburse these fees elsewhere. If the local environment changes and fees incur, the District will re-evaluate reimbursement. (At time of discussion there are at least 2 local banks available not charging fees.)

4.2 Employees who do not participate in the health insurance program will receive a stipend equal to 50% of a single subscription.

Buyback;

Prorated into each paycheck

Can be tax sheltered into a retirement account

- 4.3 The District will provide 100% of the premium paid for employee only dental insurance coverage. All teachers must participate in the plan. Two person or family plans will be available at the teachers' expense for the difference in cost. The plan will provide for 100% Preventative Coverage, 80% Restorative Coverage, and 50% Major Treatment Coverage with a maximum annual deductible of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00).
- 4.4 The District will provide, at no cost to the employee, group term life insurance which will pay one times the employee's annual salary to the next highest \$1000.
- 4.5 Tax deferred health premiums:
 Subscriber contributions of health premiums can be in pre-tax dollars.
 The District will provide pretax deductions for:
 - 1) Childcare
 - 2) Medical expenses not covered by insurance
 - 3) Dental not covered by insurance
 - 4) Eye-care not covered by insurance

ARTICLE 5 Leaves

5.1 Personal Leave

Each teacher shall be granted three days of personal leave per year, non-cumulative. Except in emergencies, the Principal shall receive twenty-four hour advance notice of all personal leave absences. No more than 15% of professional staff members can be out on personal leave on any given school day.

5.2 Sick Leave

For absences caused by illness or physical disability, each teacher upon initial employment shall be granted fifteen (15) days of paid leave per year. Unused sick leave shall accumulate to a maximum of one hundred ten (110) days.

This benefit relates to teacher illness as well as illness in the immediate family. The term "immediate family" shall mean spouse, children, and parents, and the same relation of the spouse or any person who permanently resides in his/her home and is considered a member of the immediate family. In event of a life threatening situation, sick leave shall apply to grandparents, grandchildren, and siblings also.

5.2-1 Sick Bank

In the event of catastrophic illness or severe accident, a teacher may obtain sick leave from the Sick Leave Bank based on the following conditions:

- a) present sick leave accumulation is exhausted
- b) catastrophic illness or severe accident will result in an absence of ten (10) weeks or longer based upon medical prognosis.

Voluntary contributions will be accepted and recorded in September with a maximum of five (5) days for each full-time teacher and a pro-rated amount for part-time teachers. For each day contributed to the bank, the individual teacher will receive three (3) days credit in the bank.

The bank for each teacher will be cumulative to ninety (90) days.

It is expected that a teacher will return to work as soon a medically diagnosed as able.

5.3 Professional Leave

Each teacher may apply for up to three (3) days annual leave for participation in appropriate professional meetings, conferences, visitations with other schools, and the like, without loss of pay and with reimbursement for mileage at a rate equal to the Internal Revenue Service mileage rate. Under special circumstances, teachers may apply for additional professional leave.

5.4 Bereavement

Up to five (5) days shall be granted at full pay at any one time in the event of death of a teacher's spouse, child, parent, sibling, grandparent, grandchild, or the same relation of the spouse, or a person not related to the teacher but who permanently resides in his/her home and is considered a member of the immediate family.

Additional days may be granted by application to the Superintendent.

5.5 Jury Duty

A teacher who is called for jury duty or subpoenaed as a witness shall be excused from teaching duties for the actual time involved in said service.

The teacher will continue to be paid by the District at a level of salary less the compensation the teacher receives from the court. The teacher may retain all expense reimbursements in addition to the above compensation.

5.6 Child Bearing Leave (Parental Leave)

- a) Upon request, and with two months notice when possible, a teacher who has received a second contract will be granted a leave of absence for the purpose of caring for a newborn infant or newly adopted child for up to twelve weeks.
- b) Any teacher who is pregnant shall be entitled to the extent of accumulated sick leave upon request and may apply for emergency bank days should complications arise.
- c) A teacher who is pregnant may continue in active employment as long as the teacher is able to adequately perform their duties and can supply medical evidence to ensure their health and safety.

5.7 Sabbatical

- a) Teachers who have been employed for seven (7) years by the Board may be granted a sabbatical leave for professional development improvement for up to one (1) year.
- b) Request for sabbatical leave, including a detailed proposal relative to the purpose of the sabbatical leave, must be received by the Superintendent in writing prior to January 1 of the year preceding the requested leave year, in such form as may be mutually agreed by the Association and the Superintendent. Action must be taken no later than ninety (90) days from the date of the request.
- c) If granted, during the sabbatical leave, the teacher will be considered to be in the employ of the Board and shall receive one-half (1/2) salary if the leave is for a full year or full salary if the leave is for a half year.
- d) Teachers granted sabbatical leave must return to the District and complete one (1) year of continued employment or he/she will be obligated to repay the District in full for the compensation (including benefits) received while on sabbatical.
- e) A report is required outlining the activities and accomplishments of the teacher's sabbatical. Such report shall be presented to the Superintendent no later than ninety (90) days after returning to work.

All members of the professional staff who have been granted non-probationary status may apply for a leave of absence from their professional duties for a period of up to one (1) school year, said leave shall normally begin at the opening of school in September, (in order that continuity of class work during the term may be insured). During the leave of absence without salary, continuation of insurance will be provided at the employee's expense at the group rate. Approval by the Superintendent of such requests is subject to the employment of a suitable replacement teacher and initial approval of the Principal. Employees granted such leave shall return for one year following the leave. (Extenuating circumstances shall be reviewed by the Board and exceptions may be granted at the Board's discretion).

5.9 General Provisions

- **5.9-1** The Board, or its designee, may at its discretion, on the written request of the teacher, extend any leave granted.
- **5.9-2** Absences for reasons other than those specified above may be granted upon recommendation of the Superintendent, but at the discretion of the Board.
- 5.9-3 If any teacher is requested by the Superintendent of Schools to attend a function on behalf of the Board, such time shall not be charged to a teacher's personal time.
- **5.9-4** Employees granted leaves of absence without pay shall for one (1) year be allowed to continue under the District insurance program, at their own expense, at the group rate. Neither sick leave benefits nor credit (steps) shall be earned while on such leave.

ARTICLE 6 Professional Development

6.1 The Thornton School District shall prepay or reimburse each teacher at the rate of the University System of New Hampshire graduate course courses for each credit he or she may acquire beyond the bachelor's degree at an accredited college or university up to a maximum of nine credits per year. Three credits worth may be used for professional development activities such as workshops and conferences. However, prior written approval must be obtained from the Superintendent of Schools and the teacher must submit receipts for all reimbursable expenses.

The cap for professional development is as follows:

2021-2022	\$39,500
2022-2023	\$41,000
2023-2024	\$42,500

- 6.2 Excess revenues appearing on school district budget line 2213 may be utilized by Master's Degree candidates and/or teachers engaged in equivalent activity which is crucial to the Board's carrying out its mission.
- **6.2-1** These teachers are encouraged to discuss course costs with the Board.
- 6.2-2 The Board will determine its mission on a year by year basis, and publish their mission at the earliest possible date. Requested reimbursement for courses or activities crucial to the Board's mission will be considered by the Board.
- **6.2-3** Subject to the availability of funds, the Board may share the cost of up to six (6) credits on a 2 for 1 basis with teachers. Reimbursement will be at the current per credit cost charged by the University System of New Hampshire.
- 6.3 In order to advance to the next track on the salary schedule, teachers who anticipate track advancement in the following school year must notify the Superintendent of Schools in writing on or before November 1st of the anticipated track change. Prior to July 1 of the originating school year the teacher must confirm in writing that they have achieved the required hours, or that they will before the upcoming school year. Upon this confirmation the teacher shall be placed on the track which reflects the accumulation of approved credits effective July 1. All documentation (evidence) supporting a track change must be received by September 30 of the ensuing year following notification. Failure to supply documentation will result in the teacher reimbursing overpayment back to the District.
- 6.4 The District will pay up to 50% for approved course work in advance, provided the teacher completes and signs an agreement to satisfactorily complete the course and earn at least a grade of B- or higher. Said agreement will authorize the district to withhold the cost of the course from payroll if the teacher fails to meet the terms of the agreement. If the teacher is leaving the employment of the District and has not complied with the language above, the District reserves the unilateral right to withhold the amount of money due the District from the last paycheck owed to the teacher.

ARTICLE 7 Salaries

7.1 New Salary Schedule for term of contract

2024 - 2025 matrix 2.0% plus step, 5.0% off step

2025 – 2026 matrix 1.5% plus step, 3.0% off step

2026 - 2027 matrix 1.0% plus step, 3.0% off step

7.2 Extracurricular Assignments.

- a) Teachers will be compensated at the rate of three percent (3%) of the base salary, BA teacher track of the current Thornton Education Association Salary Schedule, for the following assignments:
 - 1) 7 & 8 Boys Basketball
 - 2) 7 & 8 Girls Basketball
 - 3) Baseball
 - 4) Softball
 - 5) Field Hockey
 - 6) 7 & 8 Soccer

- 7) Grade 8 Advisor
- 8) Yearbook
- 9) Musical Drama
- 10) Winter Activities Program
- 11) Website Development & Maintenance
- 12) Destination Imagination Advisor
- b) In addition to the above base rate of compensation, teachers will receive one half (1/2) of one percent (1%) per year of experience up to a maximum of eight (8) years' experience within the same assignment.
- c) Teachers will be compensated at the rate of two percent (2%) of the base salary, BA track of the current Associations Salary Schedule, for the following assignments:
 - 1) 5 & 6 Boys Basketball
 - 2) 5 & 6 Girls Basketball
 - 3) 5 & 6 Soccer
 - 4) NJHS Advisor

- 5) Math Counts
- 6) Professional Development Coordinator
- 7) Destination Imagination Assistant
- d) In addition to the above base rate of compensation, teachers will receive one half (1/2) of one percent (1%) per year of experience up to a maximum of five (5) years' experience within the same assignment.

7.3 Retirement

- 1. Eligibility: Any teacher employed by the Thornton School District who is at least 60 years of age and who has at least 20 years' service to the district as of June 30th date of his/her stated retirement year shall be eligible for a retirement benefit upon retiring from the teaching profession.
- 2. Notice: Eligible employees must present notification of intent to retire by January 15, one school year prior to that of retirement.

 Consideration outside of this requirement can be submitted in writing.
- Annual limit: A maximum of three eligible employees shall receive this benefit in any one year. If more than three eligible employees present notification of intent to retire under this provision, those with the most service to the district shall receive the benefit.
- 4. Benefit: The District shall provide a net retirement benefit of \$37,500. The employee may choose to apply this benefit toward expenses related to any health insurance plan or supplement or at the employee's option in the form of a cash payment. If applied to a health insurance or supplement costs the benefit will remain available to the retiree until fully expended. If received in a cash payment the amount allowable without penalty to the district, shall be issued within the timeframe to apply toward NHRS calculation of final compensation. Any balance shall be issued within thirty days after the deadline for calculation of final compensation.

7.4 Longevity

- A. Longevity will be compensated to teachers after seven (7) years of service and will be calculated at a rate of one hundred dollars (\$100) per year of service. Teachers who are not full-time through no fault of their own shall be eligible after seven (7) years for longevity compensation at rate commensurate with their percentage of employment.
- B. Teachers may opt to receive a longevity payment added into the first payroll of the fiscal year, or a payment may be prorated according to the method selected by the teacher for normal pay. Such an election should be made at the signing of the annual contract.

7.5 Child Enrollment

As a condition of employment, a teacher who lives outside of the Town of Thornton shall be able to enroll his/her child(ren) in Thornton Central School. The teacher shall pay 35% of the total tuition costs. Such cost shall be prorated in the event that enrollment occurs after the start of the school year. The teacher may elect to make the tuition payments by payroll deduction or other agreed upon periodic payments to the District.

ARTICLE 8 Contract Days

A teacher's contract will be for one hundred eighty-five (185) days with an optional extended school year. The rate of pay shall be at the teacher's current rate per diem. Each teacher's proposal shall be submitted to the Principal and then forwarded to the Superintendent of Schools for final approval.

8.1 The Instructional length of the day. Instruction shall be:

Grades 5-8 8:05AM to 2:45PM Grades K-4 8:15AM to 2:45PM

8.2 The teacher work day shall be:

Grades 5-8 7:55AM to 2:45PM Grades K-4 8:07AM to 2:45PM

Teachers shall be in their work areas at the commencement of the work day. Current practice shall continue for meetings in and outside of the work day.

ARTICLE 9 Evaluation

- 9.1 Teachers not being nominated or re-elected shall be notified in writing on or before April 15. (RSA 189:14A)
- **9.2** Frequency of Formative Observations and Summative Evaluations

Probationary Teacher

 Teachers with a non-continuing contract and anyone deemed ineffective or needs improvement/developing in their summative evaluation will have a minimum of one (1) formative observation and one (1) summative evaluation every year.

Non-Probationary Teacher

Teachers with a continuing contract will have a minimum of one (1) formative observation and one (1) summative evaluation every three (3) years.

An educator's performance level will remain in effect until the next summative evaluation.

Summative evaluations shall be at the rate of one (1) every three (3) years for non-probationary teachers and one (1) every year for probationary teachers. Teachers will be given a copy of any evaluation report. A teacher must be informed of all information found in the formative/summative evaluation within ten (10) school days of the administration's knowledge of occurrence. A meeting to review and document this issue with the teacher will be held as close to the occurrence as possible. Failure to do so will result in the information not being used. In the event that the teacher feels his/her evaluation was incomplete or unjust, he/she may present his/her objections in writing and have them attached to the evaluation report and placed within his/her file within ten (10) school days of the post evaluation conference.

- 9.3 Each formative observation shall include a pre-conference and a post conference. It is the responsibility of both parties to agree to a time for a post observation conference. At the end of each observation a post conference will be conducted between the principal/designee and teacher as soon as possible after the observation. A teacher's signature on an evaluation report does not necessarily denote agreement with the report.
- 9.4 All Teachers may request an additional scheduled formative observation. Teachers may request to select another SAU 48 administrator to complete a formative observation. Using the summative evaluation rubric outlined in the contract, the administrator will determine the teacher effectiveness performance level. If there is not a clear performance level indicated then the administrator will use the higher performance level. An improvement plan will be developed for any teacher deemed developing/needs improvement or ineffective.
- 9.5 It is each teacher's primary responsibility for the correction of performance deficiencies. However, the Principal/designee will cooperate in the development of a plan for the remedy of deficiencies related to job performance. The Principal/designee will also provide guidance and assistance to the probationary teacher in an effort to aid him/her in completing the plan of remediation.

Beginning in the second contract year, the Principal/designee will also offer guidance and assistance to the probationary teacher by February 15 prior to the contract renewal date.

9.6 Review of Personnel Files

- 9.6-1 Teachers shall be entitled to access and duplicate his/her personnel file without charge at any time upon twenty-four (24) hour notice to the Superintendent or his/her designee. The Superintendent or his/her designee will be in the presence of the teacher during the review. The teacher shall be entitled to have a representative of the Association present during the review.
- **9.6-2** The teacher has the right to review his or her personnel file pursuant to RSA 275:56 as written as of July 1, 2015.
- 9.6-3 The personnel file of a teacher shall be closed upon termination of employment. This means that no documents or other material shall be placed in the teacher's file reflecting the teacher's activities after termination of employment.
- 9.7 The Thornton Education Association and Thornton School Board recognize the importance and value of assisting and evaluating the progress and success of both newly employed and experienced teachers for the purpose of improving instruction. The Thornton Central School Teacher Evaluation Plan shall be utilized for the observation/evaluation of district teachers.
- 9.8 Criteria for Effective Teaching: Thornton Central School District Teacher Observation and Evaluation.
- 9.8-1 Philosophy: We believe that all children can learn. Therefore, teaching is the most important aspect of our purpose to educate students to the maximum of their potential. We recognize that teachers are learners also and need a collegial and supportive atmosphere in order to thrive. We feel this kind of dynamic and productive environment will result in successful and positive students.
 - To this end, we have developed this document on teacher observation and evaluation.
- 9.8-2 The Purpose of Teacher Evaluation: We have prepared this Thornton Central School Teacher Evaluation Plan to assist teachers and administrators in their continuing efforts to improve instruction for our students.

Our values are clear. We believe that teaching and teachers are the heart of the educational process. We believe that teacher performance makes a difference in the achievement of students as well as students' sense of fulfillment and feeling of well-being. We believe that what teachers do and how they do it are important.

Evaluation procedures are provided to:

- a) Identify exceptional educational practices and superior teaching performances.
- b) Assist the individual teacher in providing a high-quality education for students.
- c) Provide a means of periodically assessing individual performance of a teacher over a period of time.
- d) Provide information to detail staff members' current performance level areas for improvement, and suggestions that will lead to further improvement.

Even though the emphasis of evaluation is on the concepts listed above, we recognize that teacher evaluation also provides data for personnel practices relating to renewal, promotion, assignment, and dismissal.

- **9.8-3** Format for Formative Observation Write-ups: The following formative observation rubric form will be utilized.
- **9.8-4** Format for Summative Evaluation Write-ups: Summative Evaluation Write-ups will be completed by March 31. All formative rubrics will be utilized and included in the summative evaluation rubric.

Teacher evaluation is based on four domains worth (25) percent each:

- 1) Planning and Preparation
- 2) The Classroom Environment
- 3) Instruction
- 4) Professional Responsibilities
- 1) Planning and Preparation: includes comprehensive understanding of the content to be taught, knowledge of the students' backgrounds, and designing instruction and assessment.

- 2) The Classroom Environment: addresses the teacher's skill in establishing an environment conducive to learning, including both the physical and interpersonal aspects of the environment.
- 3) Instruction: is concerned with the teacher's skill in engaging students in learning the content, and includes the wide range of instructional strategies that enable students to learn.
- 4) Professional Responsibilities: address a teacher's additional professional responsibilities, including self-assessment and reflection, communication with parents, participating in ongoing professional development, and contributing to the school and district environment.

Name:		
Time/Date:		

Formative Observation Form

	Ineffective	Needs Improvement (Developing)	Effective	Highly Effective
Domain 2 The Classroom Environment	Classroom environment is characterized by chaos and conflict, with low expectations for learning, no clear standards of student conduct, poor use of physical space, and negative interactions between individuals.	Classroom environment functions somewhat effectively, with modest expectations for student learning and conduct, and classroom routines and use of space that partially support student learning. Students and the teacher rarely treat one another with disrespect.	Classroom environment functions smoothly, with little or no loss of instructional time. Expectations for student learning are high, and interactions among individuals are respectful. Standards for student conduct are clear, and the physical environment supports learning.	Students themselves make a substantive contribution to the smooth functioning of the classroom, with highly positive personal interactions, high expectations and student pride in work, seamless routines, clear standards of conduct, and a physical environment conducive to high level learning.

Administrative/Teacher Comments:

	Ineffective	Needs improvement (Developing)	Effective	Highly Effective
Domain 3 Instruction	Instruction is characterized by poor communication, low-level questions, little student engagement or participation in discussion, little or no use of assessment in learning, and rigid adherence to an instructional plan despite evidence that it should be revised or modified.	Only some students are engaged in learning because of only partially clear communication, uneven use of discussion strategies, and only some suitable instructional activities and materials. The teacher displays some use of assessment in instruction and is moderately flexible in adjusting the instructional plan and in response to students' interests and their success in learning.	All students are engaged in learning as a result of clear communication and successful use of questioning and discussion techniques. Activities and assignments are of high quality and teacher and students make productive use of assessment. The teacher demonstrates flexibility in contributing to the success of the lesson and of each student.	All students are highly engaged in learning and make material contributions to the success of the class through their participation in discussions, active involvement in learning activities, and use of assessment information in their learning. The teacher persists in the search for approaches to meet the needs of every student.

Administrative/Teacher Comments:

Name: _			
Date:			

Summative Evaluation Form

	Ineffective	Needs Improvement (Developing)	Effective	Highly Effective
Domain 1 Planning and Preparation	Teacher's plans reflect little understanding of the content, the students, and available resources, instructional outcomes are either lacking or inappropriate; assessment methodologies are inadequate.	Teacher's plans reflect moderate understanding of the content, the students, and available resources. Some instructional outcomes are suitable to the students as a group, and the approaches to assessment are partially aligned to the goals.	Teacher's plans reflect solid understanding of the content, the students, and available resources. Instructional outcomes represent important learning suitable to most students. Most elements of the instructional design, including the assessments, are aligned to the goals.	Teacher's plans, based on extensive content knowledge and understanding of students, are designed to engage students in significant learning. All aspects of the teacher's plansinstructional outcomes, learning activities, materials, resources, and assessment are in complete alignment and are adapted as needed for individual students.

Administrative/Teacher Comments:

	Ineffective	Needs Improvement (Developing)	Effective	Highly Effective
Domain 2 The Classroom Environment	Classroom environment is characterized by chaos and conflict, with low expectations for learning, no clear standards of student conduct, poor use of physical space, and negative interactions between individuals.	Classroom environment functions, somewhat effectively, with modest expectations for student learning and conduct, and classroom routines and use of space that partially support student learning. Students and the teacher rarely treat one another with disrespect.	Classroom environment functions smoothly, with little or no loss of instructional time. Expectations for student learning are high, and interactions among individuals are respectful. Standards for student conduct are clear, and the physical environment supports learning.	Students themselves make a substantive contribution to the smooth functioning of the classroom, with highly positive personal interactions, high expectations and student pride in work, seamless routines, clear standards of conduct, and a physical environment conducive to high level learning.

Administrative/Teacher Comments:

	Ineffective	Needs Improvement (Developing)	Effective	Highly Effective
Domain 3 Instruction	Instruction is characterized by poor communication, low-level questions, little student engagement or participation in discussion, little or no use of assessment in learning, and rigid adherence to an instructional plan despite evidence that it should be revised or modified.	Only some students are engaged in learning because of only partially clear communication, uneven use of discussion strategies, and only some suitable instructional activities and materials. The teacher displays some use of assessment in instruction and is moderately flexible in adjusting the instructional plan and in response to students' interests and their success in learning.	All students are engaged in learning as a result of clear communication and successful use of questioning and discussion techniques. Activities and assignments are of high quality, and teacher and students make productive use of assessment. The teacher demonstrates flexibility in contributing to the success of the lesson and of each student.	All students are highly engaged in learning and make material contributions to the success of the class through their participation in discussions, active involvement in learning activities, and use of assessment information in their learning. The teacher persists in the search for approaches to meet the needs of every student.

Administrative/Teacher Comments:

	Ineffective	Needs Improvement (Developing)	Effective	Highly Effective
Domain 4 Professional Responsibilities	The teacher demonstrates low ethical standards and levels of professionalism, with poor record keeping systems and skills in reflection, little or no communication with families or colleagues, and avoidance of school and district responsibilities and participation in activities for professional growth.	The teacher demonstrates moderate ethical standards and levels of professionalism, with rudimentary record-keeping systems and skills in reflection, modest communication with families or colleagues, and compliance with expectations regarding participation in school and district projects and activities for professional growth.	The teacher demonstrates high ethical standards and a genuine sense of professionalism by engaging in accurate reflection on instruction, maintaining accurate records, communicating frequently with families, actively participating in school and district events, and engaging in activities for professional development.	The teacher's high ethical standards and sense of professionalism are highly developed, showing perceptive use of reflection, effective systems for records keeping and communications with families, leadership roles in both school and district projects, and extensive professional development activities. Where appropriate, students contribute to the systems for record keeping and family communication.

Administrative/Teacher Comments:

Teacher's overall performance	e level is:	
Teacher Signature:		Date:
Administrator's Signature:		Date:

The teacher's signature on this form indicates that s/he has seen all the comments on the form. The teacher's signature doesn't necessarily indicate agreement with the evaluation report.

Copy to: Superintendent's office for review and file.

ARTICLE 10 Fair Treatment

- 10.1 The Board, in recognition of the concept of progressive improvement, shall promptly notify a non-probationary teacher in writing of any alleged deficiencies, indicate expected correction and indicate a reasonable period for correction. Beginning in the second contract year, probationary teachers will be notified in writing of any alleged deficiencies at least two (2) months before teacher contract renewal date.
- 10.2 Right to Representation

A teacher shall be entitled to have present a representative of the Association at any meeting which is scheduled for the purpose of discussion subject(s) which may result in disciplinary action.

10.3 Just Cause

A non-probationary teacher shall only be disciplined, terminated or non-renewed for just cause.

10.4 Complaints

All Complaints regarding a teacher will be promptly investigated. No complaint about a teacher shall become a part of the teacher's file unless the teacher is notified of the complaint and given the opportunity to respond. Said response and/or the results of the response shall also become part of that teacher's file. Unsubstantiated complaints shall not be placed in the employee's file or used in any way to evaluate the employee. The Principal may at his/her sole discretion, suggest a fact-to-fact meeting of the relevant parties.

10.5 Non-discrimination

The Board and the Association agree that there shall be no discrimination and that all practices, procedures, and policies of the school district shall clearly exemplify that there is no discrimination in the hiring, training, assignment, promotion, transfer or discipline of teachers or in the application or administration of this Agreement on the basis or race, creed, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status, age, or handicap.

ARTICLE 11 Teaching Conditions

- 11.1 Any teacher having worked one hundred (100) days of the contract year in the Thornton District shall be given credit for a full year's teaching.
- 11.2 When the decision to make an involuntary transfer of grade and/or subject area, has been made by the Principal, the professional employee affected will be notified in writing immediately. Such involuntary transfers shall be based on seniority whenever possible, with the least senior professional employee being transferred first. A professional employee's prior movement history must be taken into account when making transfers. Only under extreme circumstances shall a professional employee be involuntarily transferred more than once in a three-year period. Upon request, a professional employee designated for involuntary transfer shall be entitled to a meeting with the Superintendent or designee to discuss the reasons for the involuntary transfer within 10 days of the written notification of involuntary transfer. If still dissatisfied, the professional employee may request a meeting before the Board. Such meeting will be held within ten (10) days of the meeting with the Superintendent.

- 11.3 Vacancies for teaching positions and co-curricular activities within the District will be posted in the school building for a period of five (5) days prior to seeking applicants outside the District.
- 11.4 The Thornton School Board will provide a new teacher offered a position in the Thornton School District a copy of this professional agreement in its entirety with the teacher's contract.
- 11.5 The Board agrees that, upon receipt of written authorization signed by the teacher, the Board shall deduct a specified amount to be paid to:
 - 1) a credit union
 - 2) a tax-sheltered annuity
 - 3) dues for the Association
- 11.6 The individual contract between a teacher and the School Board shall be written and the contract form used for all teachers shall be standard.
- 11.7 After fifteen (15) years or more of service, if a teacher retires, he/she may purchase at his/her expense, individual or group medical coverage, the same as current medical policy in Article 4.

ARTICLE 12 Reduction of Force or Realignment

12.1 In the event that it becomes necessary to reduce the number of employees due to reasons of economy, program elimination, reduction in subject area, decrease in enrollment, or the consolidation or elimination of positions, the basis for the decision to terminate employees shall be performance and seniority. Among the professional staff, those with less than three (3) consecutive years of experience in the Thornton School District shall be terminated first, providing there are fully certified and/or highly qualified staff members to replace them and perform all the assigned duties of the terminated staff member. Those professional employees with less than three consecutive years experience in the Thornton School District shall be considered for layoff first and those professional employees with inverse order of seniority shall be considered for layoff second. The date of hire is determined to be the first contract workday. Any professional employee so affected shall follow the procedures established by RSA 189-14 a and b. Notice of planned reduction shall be communicated to all employees when a final determination as to the extent of reductions is known. The Board shall make every effort to determine the number of resignations and retirements in any given year in order to avoid unnecessary terminations. Employees terminated through this article shall receive preference in consideration for future openings. Employees terminated through this article are not entitled to the grievance process stated within the contract. Any

professional laid off because of a reduction in force shall have a letter placed in his/her personnel file stating that he/she was not offered a contract due to reduction in staff. A professional so affected shall be notified in writing within a week of the vote by the Board and shall have the right to appeal to the Board within ten (10) days of said notification, following procedures and guidelines established under state law and this agreement.

ARTICLE 13 Association Rights

- 13.1 The Board agrees that all teachers shall have full freedom of association and self-organization and shall be free from restraint, coercion, interference, discrimination or reprisals by the Board by reason of membership in the Association, or participation in any of its activities of the exercise of individual rights under RSA 273A.
- **13.2** The Association shall the right to the following:
- **13.2-1** Use of the school buildings at reasonable times for meetings.
- **13.2-2** Be given the opportunity at building faculty meetings to present brief reports and announcements.
- **13.2-3** Be given a place on the agenda, when requested, of Thornton Building Orientation meetings for all Thornton District Teachers.
- **13.2-4** Post notice of its activities and matters of teacher concern in the teacher's room and have use of the mail box system.
- **13.2-5** Use of school equipment normally used by Teachers. However, expendable material will be at the expense of the Association.
- **13.2-6** Request a place on the agenda of a regularly scheduled Board meeting.
- 13.3 A reasonable number of teachers engaged during the school day in negotiating on behalf of the Association with any representative of the Board, shall be released from regular duties without loss of salary or benefits.
- 13.4 The rights granted to the Association in this Agreement will not be granted to any other teacher's group or organization which purports to represent any teacher or group of teachers covered by this agreement.

ARTICLE 14 Duration

14.1 The Provisions of this Agreement will be effective, from July 1, 2024 and will continue and remain in full force and effect until June 30, 2027.

In WITNESS WHERE	OF, this agreement h	as been duly e	recuted by the parties
on this d	lay of	, 2024.	< 1
Thornton School Boa	rd Ti	normton Education	on Association
	(BOC	_0_

THORNTON SCHOOL DISTRICT Teachers Salary Schedule

2024 – 2025	ВА	BA+15	BA+36/MA	MA+15	MA+30
Matrix Increase 2.0%					
1	46,768	47,936	49,134	50,362	51,621
2	48,403	49,613	50,854	52,125	53,428
3	50,098	51,349	52,633	53,950	55,298
4	51,851	53,147	54,476	55,838	57,234
5	53,666	55,008	56,383	57,791	59,236
6	55,544	56,933	58,356	59,814	61,309
7	57,488	58,925	60,398	61,909	63,456
8	59,500	60,987	62,513	64,076	65,678
9	61,582	63,122	64,700	66,317	67,975
10	63,739	65,331	66,966	68,639	70,355
11	65,968	67,618	69,308	71,041	72,817
12	68,278	69,986	71,734	73,527	75,366
13	70,668	72,434	74,246	76,103	78,005
14	73,140	74,969	76,843	78,764	80,733
15	76,066	77,970	79,917	81,916	83,964
Off	-	-		-	-

2025 – 2026	ВА	BA+15	BA+36/MA	MA+15	MA+30
Matrix Increase 1.5%					
1	47,469	48,655	49,871	51,118	52,396
2	49,129	50,357	51,617	52,906	54,229
3	50,850	52,120	53,423	54,759	56,128
4	52,628	53,945	55,293	56,676	58,093
5	54,471	55,833	57,229	58,658	60,124
6	56,377	57,787	59,231	60,711	62,229
7	58,350	59,809	61,304	62,837	64,408
8	60,393	61,902	63,450	65,037	66,663
9	62,505	64,069	65,671	67,312	68,995
10	64,695	66,311	67,970	69,669	71,410
11	66,957	68,633	70,348	72,107	73,909
12	69,302	71,036	72,810	74,630	76,496
13	71,728	73,521	75,360	77,244	79,175
14	74,237	76,094	77,996	79,946	81,944
15	77,207	79,139	81,116	83,145	85,224
Off	-	-	-	-	-

2026 – 2027	BA	BA+15	BA+36/MA	MA+15	MA+30
Matrix Increase 1.0%					
1	47,944	49,141	50,369	51,629	52,920
2	49,620	50,861	52,133	53,435	54,771
3	51,358	52,641	53,957	55,306	56,689
4	53,155	54,484	55,846	57,243	58,674
5	55,016	56,392	57,801	59,244	60,726
6	56,941	58,365	59,824	61,318	62,851
7	58,934	60,407	61,917	63,466	65,052
8	60,997	62,521	64,085	65,687	67,329
9	63,131	64,710	66,327	67,985	69,685
10	65,342	66,974	68,650	70,365	72,125
11	67,627	69,319	71,051	72,828	74,648
12	69,995	71,746	73,538	75,377	77,261
13	72,445	74,256	76,113	78,017	79,967
14	74,979	76,855	78,776	80,745	82,764
15	77,979	79,931	81,927	83,976	86,076
Off	-	_	_	_	_